73833-0

73833-0

RECEIVED  
JUN 07 2016  
Stel Rives LLP

COURT OF APPEALS  
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON  
DIVISION ONE

Deutsche Bank National Trust Co.,  
as trustee for Long Beach Mortgage  
Loan Trust 2006-4, et al.

Respondents,

vs.

John E. Erickson and Shelley A.  
Erickson, et al.

Appellants.

NO. 73833-0-I

(Trial Ct # 14-2-00426-5 KNT  
King County Superior Court)

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

*Corrected*

2016 JUN -7 AM 10:27  
COURT OF APPEALS  
STATE OF WASHINGTON  
DIVISION ONE

Helmut Kah, Attorney at Law  
WSBA No. 18541  
16818 140<sup>th</sup> Ave NE  
Woodinville, WA 98072-9001  
Phone: 425-949-8357  
Cell: 206-234-7798  
helmutkah@outlook.com

##

## I. INTRODUCTION

Plaintiff below, respondent on appeal, is Deutsche Bank National Trust Co., as Trustee for Long Beach Mortgage Loan Trust 2006-4 (“DBNTC” in this brief).

Defendants below, appellants on appeal, are John E. Erickson and Shelley A. Erickson (“Ericksons” in this brief).

On July 17, 2015, the trial court entered an order granting summary judgment of foreclosure (CP 539 – 541) in favor of Deutsche Bank National Trust Co., as Trustee for Long Beach Mortgage Loan Trust 2006-4 (“DBNTC” in this brief), against appellants John E. Erickson and Shelley A. Erickson (“Ericksons” in this brief) and denied Ericksons motion for reconsideration. (CP 542 – 546; CP 547 – 549) The trial court then entered a final judgment and decree of foreclosure on August 27, 2015. (CP 680 – 685)

A fundamental flaw in the trial court’s decisions is that DBNTC submitted no competent evidence in support of the relief it requested and was granted. DBNTC submitted no declaration or affidavit of any person with personal knowledge of the assertions made by its attorney, Will J. Eidson, Stoel Rives, LLP, in support of DBNTC’s case. Attorney Eidson is the sole source of the factual assertions submitted to the trial court by DBNTC. Mr. Eidson’s assertions consist of unsworn oral statements at the two summary judgment hearings (VRP 7/2/2015) and VRP 7/13/2015)

and three declarations over his signature. (CP 235 – 255; CP 470 – 503; and CP 660 – 666) No officer, agent, records custodian, employee, or person other than DBNTC's lawyer J. Will Eidson submitted a declaration or testimony in support of DBNTC's claims.

DBNTC asserts solely through attorney J. Will Eidson's unsubstantiated hearsay assertions that at the time of trial it was the holder of the Ericksons' promissory Note and entitled to enforce the Note and foreclose the Ericksons' Deed of trust. It claims holder status based solely on Mr. Eidson's oral statements at the hearings and his declarations under penalty of perjury. DBNTC's complaint filed January 3, 2014, has attached to it a copy of a copy of a promissory note with no indorsements and no allonges. DBNTC's complaint does not allege that the attached note is an original or even a copy of the original note. Nor does the complaint allege the DBNTC is in possession of the original note or deed of trust.

Ericksons challenge DBNTC's standing to bring this judicial foreclosure action. The record is void of any competent evidence showing that DBNTC was in possession of, was the holder of, or was entitled to enforce the Erickson Note when it filed the foreclosure complaint on January 3, 2014. DBNTC does not assert in its motion for summary judgment, through Mr. Eidson's declarations, or at either of the two summary judgment hearings, or otherwise, that it possessed the Ericksons'



original note when it filed the judicial foreclosure action on January 3, 2014.

Nearly 1 1/2 years after the complaint was filed in January 2014, attorney Eidson's May 19, 2015 declaration (CP 235 – 255) for the first time provides a note copy that purports to have an undated blank indorsement on the back of the last page. No explanation is provided regarding the undated indorsement stamped on the blank sheet attached to this new version of the note (CP 239 – 242). That note copy is substantially different in appearance from the Note copy attached to the January 3, 2014 complaint. (CP 48 – 50)

The lack of competent evidence in support of summary judgment runs through DBNTC's entire case. For example, the trial court's judgment and decree of foreclosure (CP 680 – 685) enters a money judgment in favor of DBNTC against Ericksons in the principal amount of \$465,047.67 plus interest totaling \$253,354.11 for a total of amount of \$718, 401.78. No evidence whatsoever was presented to the court in support of the amount of principal or interest awarded. No records, no ledger, not even a statement of account! The money judgment is based solely on the unsupported hearsay representations of DBNTC's lawyer J. Will Eidson with no supporting evidence or documentation. Mr. Eidson does not claim to be a custodian of any underlying business records.

Ericksons raise additional challenges to DBNTC's claims. These are set forth below in the body of this brief.

## **II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR**

1. The trial court erred in granting defendant DBNTC's motion for summary judgment. (CP 539 – 541)
2. The trial court erred in granting defendant DBNTC a judgment and decree of foreclosure. (CP 680 - 685)
3. The trial court erred in entering a money judgment as part of the judgment and decree of foreclosure in the absence of any evidence in support of a money judgment. (CP 680 - 685)
4. The trial court erred in dismissing Ericksons' affirmative defenses and counterclaims on the basis of collateral estoppel.
5. The trial court erred in awarding DBNTC any relief where DBNTC submitted no competent evidence or declarations or affidavits in support of the relief requested.
6. The trial court erred in awarding any relief to DBNTC due to DBNTC's lack of standing.

## **III. ISSUES RELATING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR**

1. Did DBNTC establish that it had possession of the Ericksons' original promissory note and thus had standing to enforce the note when it filed the original complaint for judicial foreclosure on January 3, 2014?
2. Did DBNTC establish that it had possession of the Ericksons' original promissory note on and after May 19, 2015?
3. Did DBNTC lack standing to proceed with a lawsuit to enforce the Ericksons' promissory note and foreclose their deed of trust where DBNTC failed to show that it was the holder and in possession of the original promissory note and entitled to

enforce the note on the date the judicial foreclosure complaint was filed?

4. Where the moving plaintiff DBNTC's motion for summary judgment was supported solely by the unsworn oral and written statements of its lawyer that are not based on personal knowledge and are clearly incompetent hearsay, was it error for the trial court to grant the moving party's motion for summary judgment and enter a judgment and decree of foreclosure against the nonmoving party Ericksons' homestead and enter a personal money judgment against the nonmoving party Ericksons?
5. Is an assignment of the deed of trust required to be issued and duly acknowledged by the Washington Statute of Frauds before a holder may enforce a promissory note by foreclosure of the deed of trust?
6. Was there an identity of parties and issues between the Ericksons' 2010 U.S. District Court case and this case such that dismissal of all Ericksons' affirmative defenses and counterclaims in this case was warranted under the doctrine of collateral estoppel?
7. Is Deutsche Bank National Trust Company, as Trustee for Long Beach Mortgage Loan Trust 006-4, the same corporate entity as Deutsche Bank National Trust Company, N.A., or are they separate and distinct corporate entities?

8. Does DBNTC's confusion as to its own corporate identity preclude summary judgment and entry of judgment and where, as here, DBNTC's counsel admitted on the record that the corporate entity named as plaintiff was in fact not the corporate entity that counsel was actually representing in this case?

#### **IV. STANDARD OF REVIEW**

This court reviews a summary judgment order de novo, engaging in the same inquiry as the trial court, *Beaupre v. Pierce County*, 161 Wn.2d 568, 571, 166 P.3d 712 (2007), and reviews the facts and all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. *Fulton v. State, Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs.*, 169 Wn.App. 137, 147, 279 P.3d 500 (2012). Summary judgment is proper if there are no genuine issues of material fact. CR 56(c); *Lowman v. Wilbur*, 178 Wn.2d 165, 168-69, 309 P.3d 387 (2013). A material fact is one that affects the outcome of the litigation. *Janaszak v. State*, 173 Wn.App. 703, 711, 297 P.3d 723 (2013).

A [party] moving for summary judgment “has the initial burden to show the absence of an issue of material fact, or that the [other party] lacks competent evidence to support an essential element of [his] case.” *Seybold v. Neu*, 105 Wn.App. 666, 676, 19 P.3d 1068 (2001). If the [moving party] meets this initial showing, then the inquiry shifts to the [nonmoving party] to set forth evidence to support his case. *Young v. Key Pharmaceuticals, Inc.*, 112 Wn.2d 216, 225 n.1, 770 P.2d 182 (1989). The

evidence set forth must be specific and detailed. *Sanders v. Woods*, 121 Wn.App. 593, 600, 89 P.3d 312 (2004). The responding [party] may not rely on conclusory statements, mere allegations, or argumentative assertions. CR 56(e); *Vacova Co. v. Farrell*, 62 Wn.App. 386, 395, 814 P.2d 255 (1991). If the [nonmoving party] fails to establish the existence of an essential element that he bears the burden of proving at trial, then summary judgment is warranted. *Young*, id. at 112 Wn.2d at 225.

## V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### **Order Granting Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment (CP 539 – 541):**

Pursuant to RAP 9.12, the Order Granting Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment (CP 539 – 541) designates the following documents and evidence called to the attention of the trial court before the order of summary judgment was entered:

1. Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment. (CP 215 – 234)
2. Declaration of J. Will Eidson in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment. (CP 235 – 255)
3. Defendant Ericksons' Response in Opposition to Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment. (CP 259 – 280)
4. Declaration of Duncan Robertson in support of defendants' opposition to the MSJ. (CP 281 – 454)
5. Plaintiff's Supp. Declaration of J. Will Eidson. (CP 470 - 503)
6. Plaintiff's Reply in Support of Their Motion for Summary Judgment. (CP 455 – 462)
7. Defendant's Supplemental Memorandum. (CP 504 – 516)

The trial court also considered the arguments made at the two hearings held on this matter on July 2, 2015 and on July 13, 2015, and the

authorities cited by the parties, and reviewed additional case law, including *Corales v. Flagstar Bank, FSB*, 822 F.Supp.2d 1102, 1107-08 (W.D. ash 2011).

**The Note:**

On March 3, 2006, Ericksons as “Borrowers” made and delivered to Long Beach Mortgage Company as “Lender” a Fixed/Adjustable Rate Note in the amount of \$476,000 (the “Note”) (CP 3 ¶ 7; CP 26 ¶ 7; CP 29 ¶ 46). A copy of a copy of the Note is attached to the complaint as Exhibit “A”. (CP 7 – 10). An unauthenticated copy of a copy of the Note is attached to Ericksons’ answer as Exhibit 1. (CP 47 - 50)

The Note attached to the complaint (CP 8 – 10) is a copy of a copy of the Note. It has a printed loan number, a bar code, and a rubber-stamped certification (“THIS IS A CERTIFIED COPY OF THE ORIGINAL DOCUMENT”) with an illegible signature in the upper right area of the first page. This Note copy is not itself certified as a true copy. It has no indorsements or allonges. The complaint neither alleges that it is a copy of the original Note nor that DBNTC has possession of the original Note.

**The Deed of Trust:**

On March 3, 2006, Ericksons executed a Deed of Trust with Long Beach Mortgage Company (“LBMC”) as the original Beneficiary, Ericksons as the Grantors, and Older Republic Title, Ltd, as the Trustee. (CP 3 ¶ 8; CP 29 ¶ 48) A copy of a copy of the Deed of Trust recorded on

March 9, 2006 is attached to the complaint as Exhibit "B" (CP 12 – 23) and to Ericksons' answer as Exhibit 2 (CP 52 – 59) The complaint does not allege that DBNTC has possession of the original Deed of Trust.

**Assignment of Ericksons' Deed of Trust March 14, 2006:**

A copy of an Assignment of Deed of Trust dated March 14, 2006, with no indicia of recording, is attached to DBNTC'S complaint at CP 21.

The named assignor is Long Beach Mortgage Company.

No assignee is named.

This assignment recites

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS that in consideration of the sum of TEN and no /100th DOLLARS and other good and valuable consideration, paid to the above named Assignor, the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, the said Assignor hereby assigns unto the above-named Assignee, the said Deed of Trust together with the Note or other evidence of indebtedness (the "Note"), said Note having an original principal sum of \$476,000.00 with interest, secured thereby, together with all moneys now owing or that may hereafter become due or owing in respect thereof, and the full benefit of all the powers and of all the covenants and provisions herein contained, and the said Assignor hereby grants and conveys unto the said Assignee, the Assignor's beneficial interest under the Deed of Trust.

TO HAVE AND TO HOLD the said Deed of Trust and Note, and also the said property unto the said Assignee forever, subject to the terms contained in said Deed of Trust and Note.

It is signed as follows

On 3/14/2006

Long Beach Mortgage Company.

By: \_\_\_\_\_ [illegibly scribbled signature]  
Kimberly Smith  
Asst Vice President

**Assignment of Deed of Trust January 31, 2013:**

An Assignment of Deed of Trust dated January 31, 2013, which shows no indicia of recording, is attached to the complaint below at CP 22 - 23.

The assignee is

Deutsche Bank National Trust Company, as Trustee for Long Beach Mortgage Loan Trust 2006-4

This assignment recites

For Value Received, the undersigned as Beneficiary, hereby grants, conveys, assigns and transfers to Deutsche Bank National Trust Company, as Trustee for Long Beach Mortgage Loan Trust 2006-4, whose address is 800 Brooksedge Blvd, Westerville, OH 43081, all beneficial interest under that certain deed of trust, dated 03/03/06, executed by John E. Erickson and Shelley A. Erickson, Husband and Wife, Grantors., to Old Republic Title, Ltd., Trustee, and recorded on 03/09/06, under Auditor's file No. 20060309000958, Records of King County, Washington described as follows: Exhibit A Attached

It is signed as follows

J.P. Morgan Chase bank, National Association, successor in interest by purchase from the FDIC as receiver of Washington Mutual Bank Successor in interest to Long Beach Mortgage Company.

By: \_\_\_\_\_ Rebecca Dietrich  
Title: \_\_\_\_\_ Vice President  
Rebecca Dietrich

[Acknowledgment]



A copy of this assignment is attached to Ericksons' answer as Exhibit 4. This copy of the 2013 assignment bears indicia of recording dated February 2, 2013. (CP 65 – 67).

This 2013 Assignment of Deed of Trust by which JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., purports to transfer the Ericksons' Deed of Trust to Deutsche Bank National Trust Company, as Trustee for Long Beach Mortgage Loan Trust 2006-4, is dated and recorded seven years after the trust's closing date of May 9, 2006. (CP 85 & 94; CP 341).

This 2013 assignment does not mention or purport to transfer the Ericksons' Note to DBNTC. It is well established law in Washington that an assignment of the Mortgage or Deed of Trust does not carry with it the Note or underlying obligation.

**Complaint for Judicial Foreclosure filed in  
King County Superior Court, case no.  
14-2-00428-5 KNT on January 3, 2014:**

The present action for judicial foreclosure of the Ericksons' Note and Deed of Trust was filed on January 3, 2014, in King County Superior Court under case no. 14-2-00428-5 KNT. (CP 1 – 23) The complaint alleges, inter alia, that

**I. PARTIES**

1. Plaintiff Deutsche Bank National Trust Company, as Trustee for Long Beach Mortgage Loan Trust 2006-4 is a Delaware corporation with its principle place of business in New York, New York. Deutsche Bank has paid all fees due to the State of Washington and is duly qualified to bring this action. (CP 2)

**Ericksons' Answer:** Contains legal conclusions. Denied for lack of sufficient information to admit or deny. **Plaintiff lacks authority to bring this action. Plaintiff lacks standing.** (CP 25)

### **III. FACTUAL BACKGROUND**

7. **Note.** On or about March 3, 2006, for a valuable consideration, John and Shelley made and delivered to Long Beach Mortgage Company ("Long Beach") a note in the original principal sum of \$476,000 (the "Note"). A true and correct copy of the Note is attached hereto as Exhibit A. (CP 3)

**Ericksons' Answer.** Admit paragraph 7. (CP 26)

8. **Security Instruments.** On or about March 3, 2006, John and Shelley made and delivered to Long Beach a Deed of Trust encumbering certain real property located in King County, Washington to secure payment of the Note (the "Deed of Trust"). The Deed of Trust was recorded in the office of the Auditor of King County, Washington, on March 9, 2006, under Auditor's No. 20060309000958. A true and correct copy of the Deed of Trust is attached hereto as Exhibit B. (CP 3)

**Ericksons' Answer:** Deny paragraph 8. (CP 26)

9. **Holder of the Note and Deed of Trust.** Subsequently, the Note and Deed and Trust were transferred or otherwise assigned to Deutsche Bank. Deutsche Bank is now the holder and owner of the Note and Deed of Trust. (CP 3)

**Ericksons' Answer:** Deny paragraph 9. (CP 26)

10. **Default.** John and Shelley are now in default under the terms of the Note and Deed of Trust for, among other things, failure to make monthly principal and interest payments since July 2009. (CP 3)

**Ericksons' Answer:** Deny paragraph 10. (CP 26)

**11. Amount of Principal and Interest Owning.** The unpaid principal balance owing on the Note is \$465,047.67 and unpaid interest has accrued thereon in the amount of \$186,836.08 as of November 18, 2013, late charges at the rate of six percent (6%) on all overdue interest accrued after July 1, 2009, in the amount of \$186,836.08 as of November 18, 2013. Default interest and other charges, fees, costs and expenses as provided by the Note and Deed of Trust continue to accrue under the terms of the Note and Deed of Trust. (CP 3)

**Ericksons' Answer:** Deny paragraph 11. (CP 26)

**12. Advances.** Before the entry of judgment herein Deutsche Bank may be required to advance sums for payment of taxes, assessments, water bill, fire insurance, and additional sums for the protection, preservation, and/or care of said real property together with other charges constituting prior liens on said property. In the event that any such advances are so made, the advances are secured by the Deed of Trust and Deutsche Bank is entitled under the terms thereof and will seek to add them to the amount of the judgment to be entered herein. (CP 3 – 4)

**Ericksons' Answer:** Deny paragraph 12. Challenge Plaintiff's authority to seek additional judgment as **Plaintiff lacks standing** and this judicial foreclosure is wrongful. (CP 26)

**13. No Other Action.** No other action is now pending to recover on the Note, nor to foreclose on the Deed of Trust. (CP 4)

**Ericksons' Answer:** Insufficient information to admit or deny and therefore deny paragraph 13. (CP 26)

#### **IV. CLAIM FOR RELIEF**

14. **Claims of Defendants.** The Defendants claim some right, title, interest, lien, or estate in and to said real property, but such claims and any right, title interest, lien or estate, if any they have, are subsequent, inferior and junior to the claim of Deutsche Bank under the Deed of Trust. (CP 4)

**Ericksons' Answer:** Deny paragraph 14. (CP 26)

15. **Possession During Redemption.** To the extent the property at issue is not the homestead of either John or Shelley, neither John nor Shelley is entitled to possession of the premises during the period of redemption following the Sheriff's sale pursuant to the Decree of Foreclosure herein and the purchaser at such Sheriff's sale is, or will be, entitled to the sole and exclusive possession thereof. (CP 5)

**Ericksons' Answer:** Deny paragraph 15. (CP 26)

**Ericksons' Answer, Affirmative Defenses, and Counterclaims:**

Ericksons' Answer, Affirmative Defenses, and Counterclaims filed May 19, 2014, sets forth the following:

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