Respondent Deutsche Bank National Trust Company, as Trustee 

for Long Beach Mortgage Loan Trust 2006-4 ("Deutsche Bank") submits 

this appellate brief in opposition to the Ericksons' appeal. The Ericksons' 

appeal should be denied. 

I. ARGUMENT 

A. Relevant Facts 

In March 2006, the Ericksons obtained a loan from Long Beach 

Mortgage Company ("Long Beach") and gave a note in the principal sum 

of $476,000 (the "Note"). CP 235. 1 The Ericksons secured the loan with 

a deed of trust encumbering certain real property located in King County, 

Washington (the "Deed of Trust"). CP 235. Deutsche Bank is the current

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

McPherson, 2014 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 15123, at *5 (citations omitted). 

7. The Ericksons Lack Standing to Challenge Prior 
Assignments or Raise Claims Related to the 
Securitization of the Note and Deed of Trust 

Washington courts have also held that borrowers lack standing to 

challenge assignments of the deed of trust or allege issues with the 

securitization of the note and deed of trust. See Borowski v. BNC Mortg., 

16 



Inc., No. Cl2-5867, 2013 WL 4522253, at *5 (W.D. Wash. Aug. 27, 2013) 

("[B]orrowers, as third parties to the assignment of their mortgage (and 

securitization process), cannot mount a challenge to the chain of 

assignments."); Andrews v. Countrywide Bank, NA, No. C15-0428-JLR, 

2015 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 43555, at *8 (W.D. Wash. April 1, 2015) ("[A] 

borrower generally lacks standing to challenge the assignment of its loan 

documents unless the borrower shows that it is at a genuine risk of paying 

the same debt twice."); Zhong v. Quality Loan Serv. Corp., No. C13-0814-

JLR, 2013 WL 5530583, at *3 (W.D. Wash. Oct. 7, 2013) ("[Plaintiff], as 

a borrower and third party to the transactions, lacks standing to challenge 

the Assignment."); Ukpoma v. US. Bank Nat'! Ass'n, No. 12-CV-0184-

TOR, 2013 WL 1934172 (E.D. Wash. May 9, 2013) (stating "[e]ven 

assuming for the sake of argument that the assignments in question were 

fraudulently executed, Plaintiff, as a third party, lacks standing to 

challenge them"); Brodie v. Nw. Tr. Servs., Inc., No. 12-CV-0469-TOR, 

2012 WL 6192723, at *2-3 (E.D. Wash. Dec. 12, 2012) (dismissing claims 

based on borrower's challenge to deed of trust assignment for lack of 

standing). 

Likewise, the Ericksons are not parties to the PSA (pooling and 

servicing agreement), or any other contract between the trustee and its 

loan servicers. And courts across the country have repeatedly rejected 
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challenges by borrowers to such agreements. See Deutsche Bank Nat'! 

Trust Co. v. Slotke, 192 Wn. App. 166, 367 P.3d 600 (2016); Cagle v. 

Abacus Mortg., Inc., No. 2:13-cv-02157-RSM, 2014 WL 4402136, at *4 

(W.D. Wash. Sept. 5, 2014) ("Plaintiff lacks standing to bring claims 

based on the PSA, to which she was not a party."); Frazer v. Deutsche 

Bank Nat'! Tr. Co., No. 11-cv-5454, 2012 WL 1821386, at *2 (W.D. 

Wash. May 18, 2012) ("Plaintiffs are not parties to the pooling and 

servicing agreement and present no authority suggesting standing to 

challenge it."); Alexander v. Wells Fargo Bank, NA., No. C15-459-RAJ, 

2015 WL 5123922, at *3 (W.D. Wash. Sept. 1, 2015) ("[T]he majority of 

Ninth Circuit courts have held that 'plaintiffs lack standing to challenge 

noncompliance with a PSA in securitization unless they are parties to the 

PSA or third party beneficiaries of the PSA. "' (citation omitted)); 

Mahlman v. Long Beach Mortg., No. 12-10120, 2013 WL 490112, at *5 

(E.D. Mich. Feb. 8, 2013) ("[V]iolating the REMIC rules does not 

establish a defect in ownership of the mortgage."). 

In sum, Deutsche Bank presented the original Note and established 

a prima facie case for enforcement. The Ericksons presented no contrary 

facts. The trial court correctly granted summary judgment. 
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E. Collateral Estoppel Bars Reconsideration of Issues Resolved 
Between the Parties in the Federal Lawsuit 

In the 2010 District Court Case, the Ericksons claimed that 

Deutsche Bank lacked standing to enforce the Note and Deed of Trust. 

Deutsche Bank proved it held the Ericksons' Note and summary judgment 

was entered against the Ericksons' claims based on this fact. That ruling 

is now collateral estoppel against the Ericksons here, and the Ericksons 

have no basis or grounds to re-litigate their standing arguments. 

"The doctrine of collateral estoppel is well-known to Washington 

law as a means of preventing the endless re-litigation of issues already 

actually litigated by the parties and decided by a competent tribunal. 

Collateral estoppel promotes judicial economy and prevents 

inconvenience, and even harassment, of parties." Reninger v. Dep 't of 

Corr., 134 Wn.2d 437, 449, 951 P.2d 782 (1998) (citing Hanson v. City of 

Snohomish, 121Wn.2d552, 561, 852 P.2d 295 (1993)). 

The party seeking collateral estoppel must show four basic 

elements: 

(1) the issue decided in the prior adjudication must be 
identical with the one presented in the second; (2) the prior 
adjudication must have ended in a final judgment on the 
merits; (3) the party against whom the plea of collateral 
estoppel is asserted must have been a party or in privity 
with a party to the prior litigation; and ( 4) application of the 
doctrine must not work an injustice. 
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State v. Mullin-Coston, 152 Wn.2d 107, 114, 95 P.3d 321 (2004) (citation 

and emphasis omitted). 

Collateral estoppel applies here because the Ericksons were a party 

to the 2010 District Court Case. The Ericksons mistakenly argue that 

Deutsche Bank was not a party to the 2010 District Court Case, and that 

therefore collateral estoppel cannot be applied in this case. Deutsche Bank 

was, in fact, a party to the 2010 District Court Case, but that fact is not 

relevant to the application of collateral estoppel in this case because 

Washington recognizes non-party offensive collateral estoppel. "[A] 

nonparty to prior adjudication may invoke collateral estoppel defensively 

against a party to the earlier action." Dunlap v. Wild, 22 Wn. App. 583, 

589, 591 P.2d 834 (1979). Washington courts "apply non-mutual 

collateral estoppel so long as the party against whom preclusion is sought 

was a party [the Ericksons] or in privity with a party to the prior litigation 

and had a full and fair opportunity to litigate the issue in question." 

Mullin-Coston, 152 Wn.2d at 13-14. 

However, it is clear that Deutsche Bank, the same party in this 

case, was a defendant in the 2010 District Court Case. The court in the 

2010 District Court Case recognized that Deutsche Bank was acting in its 

capacity as Trustee on behalf of the mortgage loan trust, the same capacity 

in which it filed and prosecuted this foreclosure action to enforce that 
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same Note and Deed of Trust. Deutsche Bank submitted the declaration 

of Thomas Reardon in the 2010 District Court Case, which stated that 

"Plaintiffs [the Ericksons'] loan was subsequently sold into a securitized 

pool of loans known as the Long Beach Mortgage Loan Trust 2006-4 

('Trust'), with Defendant Deutsche Bank National Trust Company ('DB') 

acting as Trustee." CP 446. 

The Ericksons' arguments (see Ericksons' Brief at 34-36) based 

upon other cases where the court distinguished between Deutsche Bank in 

its individual or trustee capacity have no application here because the 

district court in the 2010 District Court Case made it clear that it was 

addressing Deutsche Bank in its trustee capacity, the same capacity in 

which Deutsche Bank appears in this case. 

The Ericksons claimed in the 2010 District Court Case that 

Deutsche Bank did not own or possess the original Note and therefore 

lacked standing to enforce the original Note and Deed of Trust through 

foreclosure. That issue was adjudicated in favor of Deutsche Bank by the 

district court. Long Beach, 2011 WL 830727, at *5-6. The district court 

found that Deutsche Bank was the trustee for the mortgage trust that held 

the Ericksons' Note and in that capacity, was the owner of the Note. 

The district court stated in its opinion that "[t]he [Ericksons'] loan 

was then sold into a pool of loans held in trust by Defendant Deutsche 
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Bank National Trust ('DB')" (id. at * 1), and that "[m]ore importantly, 

[Deutsche Bank and its servicer] provide[d] evidence demonstrating their 

ownership of the note, which the Ericksons do not credibly challenge" (id. 

at *3). Ownership was established in Deutsche Bank in its trustee 

capacity. The Ericksons provided no contrary evidence in the 2010 

District Court Case or here. 

These facts were central to resolving the Ericksons' claims in the 

2010 District Court Case that Deutsche Bank lacked standing to enforce 

their Note and foreclose the Deed of Trust securing the Note and are 

central to the Ericksons' standing and other arguments against 

enforcement and foreclosure here. 

Now the Ericksons seek to re-litigate the identical issue by 

asserting before this Court that Deutsche Bank does not own or hold the 

Note, is not the beneficiary of the Deed of Trust, and lacks standing to 

foreclose. This is the identical issue decided by the Long Beach court, and 

as a consequence collateral estoppel bars the Ericksons from re-litigating 

these claims in this case. As such, collateral estoppel "prevents a second 

litigation of issues between the parties, even though a different claim or 

cause of action is asserted." Christensen v. Grant Cty. Hosp. Dist. No. 1, 
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152 Wn.2d 299, 306, 96 P.3d 957 (2004) (internal quotation marks and 

citations omitted). 10 

Second, the 2010 District Court Case ended with a judgment on the 

merits. Orders granting summary judgment are final judgments for 

purposes of collateral estoppel. It is not necessary that the issue was 

previously determined in a trial. "[A] grant of summary judgment 

constitutes a final judgment on the merits and has the same preclusive 

effect as a full trial of the issue." Nat'! Union Fire Ins. Co. of Pittsburgh 

v. Nw. Youth Servs., 97 Wn. App. 226, 233, 983 P.2d 1144 (1999); see, 

e.g., Brownfield v. City of Yakima, 178 Wn. App. 850, 870, 316 P .3d 520 

(2014); Lee v. Ferryman, 88 Wn. App. 613, 622, 945 P.2d 1159 (1997); 

Cunningham v. State, 61 Wn. App. 562, 566, 811P.2d225 (1991). 

There is no injustice in applying collateral estoppel here. The 

Ericksons were the Plaintiffs who filed the 2010 District Court Case 

lawsuit, and therefore had a full and fair opportunity to litigate the issues 

they raised. Collateral estoppel bars the Ericksons from re-litigating 

issues they litigated and lost in the 2010 District Court Case. 

10 Ross v. Johnson, 171 Wash. 658, 19 P.2d 101 (1933), is inapposite. 
Ericksons' Brief at 33. Ross deals with a different issue, namely, the authority of 
an agent to receive payment on behalf of a principal. That is not an issue in this 
case. 
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F. Collateral Estoppel and the Ericksons' Lack of Standing Bar 
the Ericksons' Speculative Arguments Regarding Prior 
Transfers of the Note 

The Ericksons also engage m several pages of supposition and 

conjecture about prior transfers of their Note. Ericksons' Brief at 26-28. 

None of these arguments have any merit. 

Deutsche Bank produced the original Note in this case, and thereby 

established its prima facie case to enforce it. The possession of an original 

note endorsed in blank entitles the holder to enforce it. Zalac, supra; 

RCW 62A.3-301. The Ericksons' speculation about the history of 

transfers of the Note is irrelevant. The maker of the note cannot defend by 

questioning or speculating about the history of its transfers. 11 And as 

established above, the Ericksons have no standing to challenge prior 

assignments or make claims related to the securitization of the Note and 

Deed of Trust. 12 

11 "The defending party does not carry its burden by merely identifying 
some documentary lacuna in the chain of title that might give rise to the 
possibility that a party other than the foreclosing party owns the debt. ... To 
rebut the presumption that the holder of a note endorsed specifically or to bearer 
is the rightful owner of the debt, the defending party must prove that another 
party is the owner of the note and debt. ... Without such proof, the foreclosing 
party may rest its standing to foreclose the mortgage on its status as the holder of 
the note." (Citations omitted; emphasis in original.)" JPMorgan Chase Bank, 
National Assn. v. Simoulidis 126 A.3d 1098, 1106 (Conn. 2015). 

12 See Kukuk v. HSBC Bank USA, National Association, No. 310616, 
2014 Mich. App. LEXIS 42 at *12 (Mich. App. Jan. 14, 2014) ("And to the 
extent Kukuk challenges the validity of the assignment, she lacks standing to do 
so where the pat1ies to the assignment do not contest its validity and she does not 
contest the assignee's ownership of the indebtedness. As discussed in 6A CJS 
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Moreover, collateral estoppel bars the Ericksons from rearguing 

these facts. The time to have made such arguments, assuming they had 

any supporting facts, was in the 2010 District Court Case. 

Likewise, the Ericksons' speculation about how the Note was 

transferred by and between agents of Deutsche Bank as trustee for the 

mortgage trust is simply irrelevant. The Note can be physically possessed 

by Deutsche Bank through an agent, whether that agent is an attorney for 

Deutsche Bank or a servicer, or by a servicer or other custodian of the 

servicer. A holder can possess a note "directly or through an agent." 

RCW 62A.3-201 cmt. 1. 

Notably, even though the Ericksons have been in default since 

2009, no other party has claimed to be the owner of the Ericksons' Note 

and Deed of Trust, or has asserted claims to enforce the Note and Deed of 

Trust against the Ericksons. The only party in 2010, and now, who claims 

to own and hold the Erickson's Note is Deutsche Bank. As the courts 

have recognized, the borrower must make a real showing that he is at risk 

for making double payments in order to raise challenges to contracts to 

Assignments § 132, pp 524-525 (2013), a debtor may challenge its creditor's 
assignments to avoid having to pay the same debt twice, but a debtor cannot 
challenge defects that would merely render the assignments void at the election 
of the creditor or the creditor's assignees. See also Warth v Seldin, 422 U.S. 490, 
499; 95 S. Ct. 2197; 45 LE.2d 343 (1975) (stating that "the plaintiff generally 
must asse11 his own legal rights and interests, and cannot rest his claim to relief 
on the legal rights or interests of third parties"). 

25 



which they are not parties. Otherwise, borrowers "[do] not have standing 

. . . to inspect each and every contract or agreement between any 

predecessor and successor mortgagee, searching for 'irregularities' and 

noncompliance." Kiefer v. ABN AMRO, No. 12-10051, 2012 WL 

3600351, at *4 (E.D. Mich. June 12, 2012) (brackets in original). In 

particular, where the lender produces the original note, as here, there is no 

risk of double payment and the borrower has no standing. Livonia Props. 

Holdings, LLC v. 12840-12976 Farmington Rd. Holdings, LLC, 399 F. 

App'x 97, 102 (6th Cir. 2010); Bridge v. Ocwen Fed. Bank FSB, No. 1:07-

CV-2739, 2013 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 127588, at *17 (N.D. Ohio Sept. 6, 

2013) ("Where, as here and in Livonia, the foreclosing party produces the 

original note, the obligor 'cannot credibly claim to have standing to 

challenge' the assignments and other agreements to which they were not a 

party." (emphasis added; citation omitted)); see Moran v. GMAC Mortg., 

No. 5:13-CV-04981, 2014 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 84411, at *11-12 (N.D. Cal. 

June 18, 2014): 

"Third-party borrowers lack standing to assert problems in 
the assignment of the loan" because the borrowers have not 
suffered an injury in fact. Flores v. GMAC Mortg., LLC, 
2013 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 68606, 2013 WL 2049388, at *3 
(N.D. Cal. May 14, 2013); see also Jenkins v. JP Morgan 
Bank, NA., 216 Cal. App. 4th 497, 513-14, 156 Cal. Rptr. 
3d 912 (2013); Fontenot v. Wells Fargo Bank, NA., 198 
Cal. App. 4th 256, 129 Cal. Rptr. 3d 467 (2011). 
Assignment defects do not injure borrowers because

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